
Meeting of:  Middleton Township Committee
Date: Thursday 11th October 2018
Time: 6.15 pm.
Venue: Junction Library and Community Centre, 

Grimshaw Lane, Middleton

Item 
No.

AGENDA Page No

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal 
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of 
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.    

3.  URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS 

To determine whether there are any additional items of business 
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should 
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency. 

4.  ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

To determine any items on the agenda, if any, where the public are to 
be excluded from the meeting. 

5.  OPEN FORUM (6.15-6.45PM) 

Half an hour has been set aside for members of the public to raise any 
issues relevant to the business of the Committee and the Township. 

6.  PRESENTATIONS 

6a BURNSIDE COMMUNITY CENTRE - SKILLS TRAINING UPDATE

6b YOUTH SERVICE UPDATE 

6c 1001 DAYS 

6d MIDDLETON DRAFT ALLOCATIONS PLAN 

6e OUR ROCHDALE THE ONLINE DIRECTORY OF SERVICES 

7.  MINUTES - MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE 4 - 9

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Middleton Township 

Public Document Pack



Committee held on 7th June 2018. 

8.  MINUTES - MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP DEVOLVED FUNDING AND 
DEVOLVED SERVICES SUB-COMMITTEE 

10 - 11

To note the Minutes of the meeting of the Middleton Township 
Devolved Funding and Devolved Services Sub-Committee held on 4th 
July 2018. 

9.  NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING - APPLICATION FOR THORNHAM 
ST. JOHN'S NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA & FORUM 

12 - 34

To consider an application for a Neighbourhood Area and Forum. 

10.  APPLICATION FOR AN ORDER MODYFYING THE DEFINITIVE 
MAP AND STATEMENT TO INCLUDE A FOOTPATH RUNNING 
FROM MIDDLETON ROAD (ADJACENT TO 300) TO SIDDAL FARM 
MIDDLETON 

35 - 39

To consider whether the Council should proceed with an order to add a 
footpath to the definitive map and statement. 

11.  REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 40 - 42

To consider a review of polling districts and places. 

12.  CONSULTATION ON THE REVIEW BY THE TOWNSHIPS REVIEW 
STEERING GROUP 

43 - 50

To consider proposals for the future operation of the Council’s 
Township Committee structure. 

Middleton Township Committee Members
Councillor Malcolm Boriss Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Patricia Mary Dale Councillor Neil Emmott
Councillor Susan Emmott Councillor Peter Joinson
Councillor Donna Martin E Councillor Kallum Nolan
Councillor Linda Robinson Councillor Sara Rowbotham
Councillor Susan Smith Councillor Carol Wardle
Councillor June West Councillor Donna Williams
Councillor Peter Williams

For more information about this meeting, please contact 
Alison James – Governance and Committee Services

Telephone: 01706 924711 Email: alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk 

mailto:alison.james@rochdale.gov.uk


MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday 7th June 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Donna Williams (Chair); Councillors Boriss, Burke, 
Dale, Neil Emmott, Susan Emmott, Joinson, Martin, Nolan, Robinson, 
Rowbotham, Smith, West and Peter Williams

OFFICERS:  Donna Bowler, Alan Webster, Lauren Mason (Neighbourhoods 
Directorate), Sally Cook (Adult Care Directorate), Clare Poole and Alison 
James (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  8 members of the public

APOLOGIES
1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Wardle.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
2 There were no declarations of interests.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
3 There were no urgent items of business for the Township Committee to 
consider.

ITEMS FOR EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS
4 There were no confidential items of business for the Township 
Committee to consider.

APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR FOR 2018/2019
5 Decision:
That Councillor Susan Smith be appointed as Vice Chair of Middleton 
Township Committee for the remainder of the 2018/19 Municipal Year.

OPEN FORUM
6 The following matters were raised as part of the Open Forum:-

a) Proposed Free School in Middleton

Mr Terry Linden asked why a decision taken by Cabinet in relation to the siting 
of a proposed new free school in Middleton was not on the Agenda for 
consideration at the meeting and when would the consultation on commence 
with the public. Mr Linden also referred to issues with the process in relation 
to a site at Hopwood Hall that had been discounted for the siting of the 
proposed free school and also in the consultation with stakeholders.

The Assistant Director (Place) advised that the Department for Education 
bidding process for a free school required a named site and that Cabinet had 
agreed that a site at Bowlee be put forward. Consultation would be 
undertaken through the usual process for planning applications.

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



b) Langley Central Core (Lakeland Court)

Mr Terry Linden asked a question about progress with providing facilities for 
residents at the Lakeland Court site on Langley.

The Assistant Director (Place) advised that the Council was looking at ways to 
address the issues at Lakeland Court.

c) Play Pitch Strategy

In response to a question from Mr Terry Linden, the Assistant Director (Place) 
advised that the Strategy had been approved and that sports that had not 
been included would be picked up separately.

d) Middleton May Day Event

In response to a question from Mr Terry Linden about ongoing financial 
support for the Middleton May Day event, following the success of the recent 
event, Members of the Committee expressed support for continuing the event.

EASY HUBS AND COMMUNITY CONNECTOR SERVICE
7 The Township Committee received a presentation from the Adult Care 
Service regarding ‘Community Connectors’ which was a new service created 
as part of the Locality Plan.

They were a team based in and around EASY Hubs in localities providing 
people with information, advice and signposting to appropriate organisations. 
They would support people in the Borough with issues affecting their health 
and wellbeing such as employment/training, money management, lifestyles 
(including mental health), preventative services (such as stopping smoking), 
community opportunities (volunteering) and housing.

They can also give advice to anyone over 18 years but also have links with 
the Early Help Team if the person is under 18 and can signpost them there.
Referrals can be from anyone – professional or the public and can be via one 
email, one telephone number or attending a drop in session within their 
community.

Decision;
That the presentation be noted and welcomed.

MINUTES - MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE
8 Decision:
That the Minutes of the meeting of Middleton Township Committee, held 8th 
February 2018, be approved and signed as a correct record.

Page 4



MINUTES - MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP DEVOLVED FUNDING AND 
DEVOLVED SERVICES COMMITTEE
9 Decision:
That the minutes of the meeting of Middleton Township Devolved Funding and 
Devolved Services Sub-Committee held 12th March 2018, be noted. 

REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES
10 The Township Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director 
(Legal, Governance and Workforce) that consulted Members on the review of 
Polling Districts and Polling places within the Township.

Alternatives considered:
The report was brought to the Township Committee as part of a statutory 
consultation, therefore no alternatives were considered.

Decision:
That the proposed Polling Districts and Polling places within the Township be 
noted and that any issues be referred direct to the Elections Team.

Reason for decision:
The existing arrangements within the Township were considered to be 
satisfactory for the functions of administering elections.

NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING - APPLICATION FOR THORNHAM ST. 
JOHN'S NEIGHBOURHOOD AREA & FORUM
11 Decision:
That this item of business be deferred for considered at the Township 
Committee’s next scheduled meeting on 11th October 2018.

RELEASE OF SURPLUS LAND FOR DISPOSAL IN MIDDLETON 
TOWNSHIP
12 Middleton Township Committee considered a report of the Director of 
Economy that sought approval for the disposal of land at two sites in the 
Middleton Township area: land at Joshua Lane in the East Middleton Ward 
and land at Leighton Avenue, also in East Middleton Ward. The sites were 
considered to be surplus to the Council’s operational requirements. The sale 
of the sites would generate a capital receipt for the Council and reduce its 
maintenance liabilities.

Alternatives considered:
To retain the two sites in their current use.

Decision:

1. That the site at Joshua Lane be declared surplus to requirements and 
released for disposal;

2. The site at Leighton Avenue be not declared surplus to requirements 
and the Director of Economy be requested to investigate the land being 
brought back into use as green open space.

Page 5



Reason for decision:

The Director of Economy was charged with the continual review of the 
Council’s land and property holdings to identify those that are surplus to 
requirements and could be sold. The site at Joshua Lane was maintained as a 
grassed area.  It was believed to have development potential and its sale 
would generate a capital receipt for the Council and reduce maintenance 
liabilities. The site at Leighton Avenue was the former Alkrington Moss 
Primary School playing field.  The land had been unused since the school 
closed in 2008.  The release of the site could generate a c capital receipt for 
the Council.

MIDDLETON ADDITIONAL HIGHWAY INVESTMENT PROPOSED 
PROGRAMME
13 Middleton Township Committee considered a report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods that sought approval of proposed carriageway and footway 
improvement schemes.  

Alternatives considered:
The alternative to carrying out this programme would be to select schemes 
based on condition only. This approach would lead to a deterioration of the 
network overall and it is poor asset management to treat only the worst roads 
in the area. Using an asset management approach will assist Rochdale 
Borough Council in maintaining its current level three funding from the 
Department for Transport.

Decision:
1. That the proposed carriageway and footway improvement schemes for 

Middleton Townships be approved in principle with any amendments from 
Ward Councillor to be submitted to the Head of Highways by the end of 
June 2018.

2. Where events external to the Council require rapid response or agreement 
in principle, the committee authorise the Head of Highways to vary the 
programme in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
the Chair of Middleton Township Committee.

Reason for decision:
To maximise the improvement to the network by carrying out the most efficient 
and cost effective works to the carriageways and footways.

MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP DELEGATION ARRANGEMENTS AND 
APPOINTMENTS 2018/19
14 The Township Committee considered a report seeking confirmation of 
the   delegated decision making arrangements for the year and appointments 
to Township Sub-Committees, including the Chair and Vice Chair and other 
bodies.

Alternatives considered:
The Committee could choose not to appoint to sub-committees and undertake 
all delegated functions themselves, but this may have a detrimental impact on 

Page 6



the ability to progress Township priorities or deal with urgent items of 
business.

Decision:
1. That approval be given to the Sub-Committee structure of the 

Middleton Township Committee, comprising the Middleton Township 
Devolved Funding and Services Sub-Committee and the terms of 
reference for the Sub-Committee as detailed within appendix 1 of the 
submitted report;

2. The following appointments be made for 2018/2019:-

Middleton Devolved Funding and Devolved Services Sub-Committee

All Middleton Township Committee Members

Councillor Donna Williams (Chair)
Councillor Smith (Vice-Chair)

Middleton Township Delegated Sub-Committee 

Not be appointed by matters and functions be delegated to the Middleton 
Devolved Funding and Devolved Services Sub-Committee or the Chair and 
Vice Chair of the Township Committee as necessary.

Middleton Township Environment and Culture Forum

All Middleton Township Committee Members

Councillor Donna Williams (Chair)

Middleton Regeneration and Transport Working Party

All Middleton Township Committee Members

Councillor Donna Williams (Chair)

Langley Estate Strategy Group – Councillor Smith; Substitute Member – 
Councillor Burke

Middleton Town Centre Management Company and Middleton Market 
Company: 

Final decision on membership to be delegated to the Chair and Vice-Chair 
following confirmation on the number of members required.

Brentwood Day Centre – Management Committee – Councillor Donna 
Williams

Heritage Board - Councillors Susan Emmott and West (Board will no longer 
meet after July 2018)

Page 7



Highways Champion – Councillor West

Township Planning Panel – Councillors Smith, Robinson, Dale, Boriss, Nolan 
and West.

Reasons for the decision:
The Council has established and appoints Township Committees that may 
exercise both executive and non-executive powers as set out in the 
Responsibility for Council Functions in Part 3 of the Constitution. The Sub-
Committee exercises either delegated powers or acts on any matter detailed 
in the Committee’s Terms of Reference on which it is essential to take a 
decision. The proper appointment of Sub-Committees is required to permit the 
undertaking of delegated functions in accordance with statutory and 
procedural requirements, and appointments to Working Groups and Other 
Bodies are required to enable the Township Committee to undertake and to 
respond to the full range of issues relevant to the Township.

MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP FUNDS REVIEW
15 The Township Committee considered a report which presented a 
review of the Township revenue and capital expenditure during 2017/18 and 
provided options for the allocation of funds for 2018/19.
 
Members were also requested to consider the Middleton Township Funds 
terms and conditions and to agree delegation arrangements concerning 
funding decisions.

Alternatives Considered:
The Committee could decide whether or not to approve the allocation of funds 
to funding streams and adopt the terms and conditions.
  
Decision:
1. That the expenditure, commitments and balances for Middleton Township 

revenue and capital funds at financial year end 2017/18 be noted.
2. That the findings of the review of Township Funds 2017/18 and 

evaluations received to date for some of the projects funded be noted.
3. That the allocation of Middleton Township Funds to funding streams in 

2018/19 be approved (Option 1 for Revenue and Option 1 for Capital);
4. That the terms and conditions for Middleton Township revenue and capital 

funds for 2018/19 be approved;
5. That the delegation arrangements for Middleton Township Funds 2018/19 

as detailed in the report be approved.
 
Reasons for the Decisions:
Management of the Middleton Township Fund is delegated to the Middleton 
Township Devolved Funding and Devolved Services Sub Committee. 
Middleton Township Funds were allocated to projects that benefit the 
Township’s community and environment, and which realised the Township’s 
priorities.

Page 8



MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP DEVOLVED FUNDING AND DEVOLVED 
SERVICES SUB COMMITTEE

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday 4th July 2018

PRESENT:  Councillor Donna Williams (Chair); Councillors Burke, 
Neil Emmott, Susan Emmott, Joinson, Robinson, Smith, West and Peter 
Williams

OFFICERS:  Alan Webster and Lauren Mason (Neighbourhoods Directorate) 
and Alison James (Resources Directorate)

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  Approximately 12 members of the public

APOLOGIES
1 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Boriss, Martin, 
Rowbotham and Wardle.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
2 Councillors Joinson, Nolan, West, Donna Williams and Peter Williams 
declared interests in the application from the Middleton Town Centre 
Management Company.

URGENT ITEMS OF BUSINESS
3 The Chair indicated that additional applications from League for Life 
and Middleton Township Target Hardening Funding had been accepted onto 
the Agenda as decisions on the applications were required prior to the next 
meeting.

MINUTES
4 Decision:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Middleton Township Devolved Funding
and Devolved Services Sub-Committee held on 12th March 2018 be
approved and signed as a correct record.

MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP FUNDS 2018/19
5 The Sub-Committee considered the report of the Director of 
Neighbourhoods which provided an update on revenue and capital 
expenditure, commitments and balances of Middleton Township Funds 
2018/19 and to enable the Sub-Committee to consider the allocation of funds 
to proposed projects.

Alternatives considered:

In considering the report, Members would consider whether or not to approve
the allocation of funds to projects as appropriate.

Page 9

Agenda Item 8



Decision:

1. That the expenditure, commitments and balances for Middleton 
Township revenue and capital funds as detailed in Appendix 1 and 2 of 
the report be noted;

2. That decisions made under delegated authority as detailed in Appendix 
3 of the report be noted;

3. That it be noted that the Townships & Communities Manager has 
assessed proposed projects to be considered for funding against the 
criteria of eligibility for the Middleton Township Fund, the priorities of 
the Township and that any specific risks had been identified in the 
report;

4. That the applications for Township Funds be dealt with as follows:-

APPLICATION DECISION
Middleton Band National Finals Allocation of £5483 from Township 

Revenue Projects Fund
Greater Manchester Police Allocation of £340.50 from 

Township Revenue Projects Fund
Langley Library Allocation of £400 from Township 

Revenue Projects Fund
Middleton TCM Christmas Lights 
Switch On Event 

Allocation of £3000 from Township 
Events Fund

Middleton TCM Management 
Function Contribution 

Allocation of £10000 from Township 
Revenue Projects Fund subject to 
the submission of a more detailed 
breakdown of where the funding is 
to be utilised

Highways – Repair of Solar 
Powered Speed Sign 

Application declined as other 
sources of funding may be available

Highways – Evesham Rd & 
Walsingham Ave Waiting 
restrictions 

Allocation of £4500 from Township 
Capital Projects Fund

Highways – Manchester Old Rd 
Businesses & Waiting Restrictions 

Application Deferred 

Highways - Byron Road Verge 
Resurfacing

Allocation of £4000 from North 
Ward Capital Funding

Demesne Community Centre - 
Buttons & Bows Play Area

Application declined as other 
sources of funding may be available

Street Lighting – Middleton 
Christmas Lighting Improvements 

Allocation of £9366.56 from 
Township Capital Projects Fund

Rochdale Hornets League for Life Allocation of £4250 from Township 
Revenue Projects Fund

Middleton Township Target 
Hardening Funds 

Allocation of £5000 from Township 
Revenue Projects Fund

 Eligible for call in - yes

Page 10



1

  
Report to Rochdale Township Committee and 

Middleton Township Committee

Date of Meeting 7th June 2018
11th October 2018

Portfolio
Councillor Daalat Ali
Portfolio Holder for Planning, 
Development & Housing

Report Author Sohida Banu

Public/Private Document Public

Thornham St. John’s Neighbourhood Planning – Application for Area and Forum

Executive Summary

1.1 The Localism Act 2011 introduced new planning provisions enabling 
designated Neighbourhood Forums to prepare planning policies for a 
designated Neighbourhood Area, for consideration by the relevant local 
authority and by an independent examiner.

The Council has received two applications at this very early stage of 
neighbourhood planning– one to designate a Neighbourhood Area in 
Thornham St. John’s, Castleton and another to establish a Thornham St. 
John’s Neighbourhood Forum.  This report makes recommendations regarding 
the determination of both these applications, specifically within the context for 
assessing the suitability of the proposed Neighbourhood Area and Forum.

The Council will then publicise and undertake formal consultation on both the 
applications and consider any representations that might argue for different 
boundaries from those proposed or broader representation in terms of 
membership.  

Recommendations

2.1 That the Township Committee approves the following as the basis for public 
consultation:
 The proposed Thornham St. John’s area boundary, as described in the 

plan.
 The Thornham St. John’s Forum neighbourhood application.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1 To comply with the requirements of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 (as amended), specifically regulations 5 and 8. The 
application of a neighbourhood Area and Forum will enable the community to  
begin the preparation of a Neighbourhood Plan for their area. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



2

Key Points for Consideration

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

The Localism Act 2011 introduced a new right for communities in England to 
undertake Neighbourhood Planning. The Act places duties on local planning 
authorities to support the preparation of Neighbourhood Plans.

Neighbourhood Plans are statutory planning documents which are prepared 
by a Parish Council, a community group or an organisation or body known as 
a “Neighbourhood Forum”. To be designated a neighbourhood forum, the 
organisation or body should be inclusive and must be made up of a minimum 
of 21 people who live or work in the area or are elected local authority 
councillors in the area.

In order for a community group to produce a Neighbourhood Plan, they must 
submit an application to the Council defining their boundary and details of who 
is involved within the Forum. It is for the community to define the area to be 
covered by their Neighbourhood Plan and the people who are to be involved in 
the Forum, although the Council has a role in ensuring that the Forum is 
engaging with the local community and local stakeholders.

Appendix 1 provides a summary of the stages involved in the preparation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

A neighbourhood development plan may contain a range of policies or 
proposals for land use development that will be used as part of determining 
decisions on planning applications. It can also grant planning permission 
through neighbourhood development orders for a particular, defined type of 
development in an area or a specific site. 

The new process requires decisions to be made by the council at various 
stages in order to designate an area and forum for the preparation of a 
neighbourhood development plan. 

Generally, a neighbourhood area application is submitted first and designated 
by the Council before a neighbourhood forum application is considered.  This 
is to enable the Council to make a judgement on how well the membership of 
the proposed neighbourhood forum reflects the designated neighbourhood 
area.  However, it is recommended that stages 1 and 2 (See Appendix 1) are 
undertaken at the same time in order to save time and resources. 

It is not anticipated that taking this approach would compromise or impact on 
the preparation of the neighbourhood planning process or the statutory 
publication period of six weeks.

However, there is the risk that if the neighbourhood area boundary is changed 
by the Council before it is designated, then the neighbourhood forum 
membership may no longer be appropriate.  Should this be the case then only 
the forum application will need to be resubmitted and consulted on, again.  

Application for designation of a neighbourhood area

The Council is responsible for receiving and determining applications for the 
designation of a neighbourhood area (i.e. an area to which a neighbourhood 

Page 12



4

4.11

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

plan relates). Part 2, Section 5 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012 states that application for designation of a neighbourhood 
area must include:

a) a map (see map in Appendix 2) which identifies the Area boundary to which 
the area application relates to;
b) a statement (Appendix 2) explaining why the Area is considered appropriate 
to be designated as a neighbourhood area; and
c) a statement (Appendix 2) that the organisation or body making the area 
application is the relevant body for the purpose of section 61G of the 1990 Act.

This initial stage seeks to ascertain whether the requisite information is 
present and appropriate within the application.  

In Officers view it is considered that both the Neighbourhood Area 
application meets the minimum legal requirements. In addition, there are 
no other existing or proposed neighbourhood areas for this site.

Application for designation of a neighbourhood forum

The Council is responsible for receiving and determining applications for the 
designation of a neighbourhood forum.  Section 61F (5) of the Act states that 
local planning authorities may designate an organisation or body as a 
neighbourhood forum if the following conditions are met:

• It is established for the express purpose of promoting or improving   the 
social, economic and environmental well-being of an area that consists of 
or includes the neighbourhood area concerned (See Appendix 3).

• Its membership is open to-
• (i). Individuals who live in the neighbourhood area concerned,
• (ii). Individuals who work there, and
• (iii). Individuals who are elected members of a county council, district 

council or London borough council any of whose area falls within the 
neighbourhood area concerned (See Appendix 3).

• Its membership includes a minimum of 21 individuals, each of whom falls 
into at least one of the categories in (i) to (iii) above (See Appendix 3).

• It has a written constitution (See Appendix 3).

In Officers view it is considered that both the Neighbourhood Forum 
application meets the minimum legal requirements. 

Next Steps

If approved for consultation, the neighbourhood area and forum application 
must then be publicised for consultation for a period of not less than six weeks 
seeking representations from the area of interest.  The council must publicise 
on the website and in any other ways considered relevant a copy of the area 
application, details of how to make representations and the date by which 
those representations must be received.  Township Members are invited to 
comment on whether any further publicity should be sought in this specific 
case.  

If, following this public consultation, it is deemed appropriate to designate the 

Page 13



5

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

Thornham St. John’s Neighbourhood Area and Forum for Thornham St. 
John’s Neighbourhood Development Plan, a further report will be produced for 
Township Committee requesting members to approve the designation of the 
Area and the Forum so that the process of preparing a neighbourhood 
development plan by the local community can commence.  

What is the council’s role in neighbourhood planning?

Neighbourhood development plans are prepared by the community but there 
are a number of things the Council has a duty to do. It must:
• consult on and make a decision on the boundary of the area to be 

designated the neighbourhood area for the purposes of the neighbourhood 
development plan;

• consult on and determine applications for designation of a neighbourhood 
forum;

• organise the check by an independent examiner into a neighbourhood 
development plan;

• organise the referendum into the plan; and
• if supported, resolve to adopt the neighbourhood development Plan and to 

bring it into force on a particular date.

The Council also has a duty to provide technical advice and support to those 
producing a Neighbourhood Development Plan.

Alternatives considered

Alternatives to producing a neighbourhood plan were discussed with the 
community group and included:
• Using other planning tools such as seeking to influence an emerging local 

plan; commenting on planning applications; get involved in pre-application 
discussions; influencing design and development briefs.

• Producing a parish plan or community plan (though these do not have any 
status as statutory planning policy).

• Developing a community project and raise funds for its delivery. 

However, none of the above alternatives were considered appropriate for the 
requirements of the group.  In addition, where a community group can meet 
the basic conditions for preparing a neighbourhood plan, the Council has a 
duty to consider and support the preparation of that plan.  

Costs and Budget Summary

5.1. There are no specific financial implications arising from the recommendations 
within this report or for the Council’s involvement in the process at this stage.  
Going forward, the costs to the Council will depend on the nature and scale of 
help and support provided and the ability of community groups to contribute 
financially to the process or obtain further funding to support the plan 
preparation.  The duty to support does not require the Council to give financial 
assistance to a designated neighbourhood forum unless it chooses to do so.  
Currently, the Government has suggested funds will be made available to 
authorities to cover the costs of the independent check and referendum but no 
details are yet available. It is not possible to provide an authoritative estimate 
of the total costs involved in preparing a plan.  However, if the Council decides 

Page 14



6

to provide financial assistance then a separate Cabinet report will be provided 
to seek approval for this assistance.

Risk and Policy Implications

All the issues raised and the recommendation(s) in this report involve risk 
considerations as set out below:
 Local communities will be required to show that they are able to 

accommodate requirements for growth and development in their areas in 
accordance with the Local Plan and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. If they simply seek to prevent development, current 
Guidance indicates the Plan will not succeed at an independent 
examination.

 Resourcing neighbourhood planning forums and neighbourhood planning 
areas is likely to be an issue faced by communities and authorities.  It is 
noted and would be expected that much of the work and resource is 
expected to be undertaken by the designated neighbourhood forum.

 Based on national feedback elsewhere, the preparation of neighbourhood 
development plans appears to be a lengthy and resource intensive 
process. Further reports setting out any resource or risk implications 
would need to be presented to Township for consideration.

6.1

Consultation

7.1 If the applications for Neighbourhood Area and Forum are approved, the 
Council intends to publicise and consult on the two applications between 
18th June and 30th July 2018.
During this time the application and supporting information will be published 
on the Council’s website, and paper copies of the documents will be 
available in Rochdale Library, Castleton and Middleton Library.  Stakeholders 
on the Council’s planning policy database will be notified by letter or email. 

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8.1 Written Constitution Members Lounge

For Further Information Contact: Sohida Banu

Page 15



7

Appendix 1 

Appendix 1 Stages of preparing a Neighbourhood Plan
Stage 1 An application for a neighbourhood area is made to the Council for 

determination.  The Council must ensure that designated 
neighbourhood areas do not overlap, as no more than one 
neighbourhood development plan may be made for a particular 
designated neighbourhood area.

Stage 2 Following the designation of a neighbourhood area, an additional 
application is made by an appropriately constituted organisation to 
be designated as the neighbourhood forum. There are specific 
criteria that a designated neighbourhood forum must have a 
minimum membership requirement of 21 people and that they are 
appropriately representative of stakeholders living or working within 
the plan area.

Stage 3 Once the neighbourhood area is designated, the neighbourhood 
forum prepares the draft neighbourhood development plan or 
order. This stage includes consultation with residents and 
businesses within the plan area, and areas that may be affected by 
the plan.

Stage 4 The Council checks conformity with the basic procedural 
requirements, such as conformity with planning policy, the Local 
Plan, the National Planning Policy Framework, and legislation, as 
appropriate.

Stage 5 If the neighbourhood development plan is considered to be in 
conformity with policy and legislation, the Council appoints an 
independent examiner to carry out an examination on the plan, 
including the possibility for a hearing of oral evidence. This check 
further ensures the plan conforms to policy, legislation and that it is 
not in breach of EU legislation.

Stage 6 Subject to the examiner’s recommendations, the Council will 
decide the appropriate course of action. If the examination finds 
that the neighbourhood development plan satisfies the 
requirements, the Council must plan, publicise and hold a 
referendum to ascertain whether there is support for the plan. If 
more than 50% of those voting in the referendum vote ‘yes’, then 
the Council will bring the plan into force.  If the plan is not fit to 
proceed to referendum, or is rejected at a referendum, the process 
must start again.

Page 16



11

Appendix 2

ApplicationApplication  forfor  thethe  DesignationDesignation  ofof  aa  NeighbourhoodNeighbourhood  AreaArea

Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulations 2012
Application for the Designation of a 
Neighbourhood Area (Regulation 5)

This form has been prepared by Rochdale Council to help simplify the application 
process for designation of a neighbourhood area. You do not have to use the form.  
Please note that the information provided on this application form and its supporting 
documents will be made public. 
If you require any further clarification, or would like to discuss the boundaries of 
your proposed Neighbourhood Area with the Council before you submit your 
application, please contact the Strategic Planning via email at 
LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk
1. Applicant Details
Contact name: Gordon Tilstone
Organisation name: Thornham St John's Neighbourhood Forum
Address: 47 Thornham Lane, Middleton M24 2RE
Email Address: greenbelt@slattocks.com
Telephone Number: 

2. Name of Proposed Neighbourhood Area
Thornham St. John’s Neighbourhood Area

Page 17



8

3. Neighbourhood Area Details - Thornham St. John’s Neighbourhood Area Map

Page 18



9

Why this area is appropriate
The Thornham St John’s Neighbourhood Forum [TSJNF] has been established to 
promote and improve the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the TSJ 
Neighbourhood Plan (TSJNP) Area [see map attached]. 
The initiating group gained information about neighbourhood planning locally through the 
Rooley Moor Area Forum and more widely via Woodford Neighbourhood Forum in 
Stockport. Alongside this were conversations with the planning officers of Rochdale MBC. 
Information was also acquired from the Government’s website (Locality), Planning Aid 
and the Campaign for the Protection of Rural England [CPRE]. From this information 
base the proposed neighbourhood area was drawn up. 
We believe the creation of a Neighbourhood Area and Forum will further help community 
cohesion for those who live, work, pursue recreational activities and carry out business in 
the area. 
We recognise that our Neighbourhood Forum and Area needs to maintain itself as a 
thriving community through the provision of appropriately scaled employment premises 
and housing, particularly enough affordable housing. We are also keen to promote both 
public and non-motor transport.  
The NPA boundary closely follows the Thornham St Johns Parish Boundary. Minor 
amendments have been made to this to include properties to the west of Rochdale Road 
opposite Cardinal Langley High School and to exclude those on Trows Lane, beyond the 
now natural border of the M62. The area has been chosen in conjunction with a core 
group of residents and a Ward Councillor as being manageable in terms of preparation of 
a neighbourhood plan. 
Our neighbourhood area includes Chesham Estate, Slattocks village, Stakehill, 
Thornham Fold and properties between Slattocks Roundabout and Stanycliffe Lane.
The vast majority of land within the proposed NPA is Greenbelt. Much of this is used for 
farming, principally gazing for sheep and cattle. There are both beef & dairy cattle which 
include a Holstein herd, noted for its high milk yield. Chicken egg production is also a 
thriving local farm-based business. Many of the farms are owned and operated by local 
families with long associations with the area. Some parts of farmland are given over to 
game bird production and shooting. The lanes and public footpaths are regularly 
frequented by numerous walking groups, horse riders, cyclists, runners and individuals 
for recreation, general exercise and enjoyment. The Rochdale Canal runs the length of 
the Area from Trub to Stanycliffe and is well used by leisure craft, anglers, walkers, 
joggers and cyclists. It also forms a useful corridor/route for local workers’ journeys. 
People are increasingly conscious of their health and well-being and wish to exercise in 
natural places (jogging, walking, cycling, etc). Thus the Area’s green infrastructure (trees, 
hedgerows, river/canal banks, green corridors) plays a crucial role in people’s lives. 
As such we consider our local landscape and heritage assets as essential parts of wider 
area’s appeal. The mixture of rural and urban aspects make it distinct and contribute to 
the agricultural and visitor economy.
The Area contains a range of residential, business (including Stakehill Industrial Estate 
[SIE]), farmland, greenbelt and rail & major road links. 
Of particular note are a Grade II listed church, St John the Evangelist Thornham; 
Thornham Cricket Club; the Richard Bentley Smalley Memorial Hall (Charity no. 228619); 
the Rochdale Canal; and Gerrard Wood (described in GMSF draft October 2016 as a Site 
of Biological Importance [SBI]).
There are three schools within the Plan Area, namely; Cardinal Langley RC High School 

Page 19



10

& Sixth Form; St John’s Thornham CE (VA) Primary School; and St John Fisher RC 
Primary School. 
Businesses outside of the SIE footprint include a number of farms, hotels & a spa/fitness 
centre, residential and nursing care homes, bed & breakfast accommodation, skip hire, 
two garden centres, car sales, three public houses and a fuel station with convenience 
shop. The Area also has a number of licenced mobile kiosks for drinks/sandwich/hot food 
which are well used by local residents & workers, along with passing trade.
Stakehill Industrial Estate - the Forum fully acknowledge Rochdale Council’s aim to focus 
on economic growth as part of its Adopted Core Strategy [Oct 2016] and we recognise 
the Council’s wish to further enhance and promote employment within the Estate’s 
current footprint.
We have, therefore, excluded the SIE footprint from our NPA but reserve the right to 
comment on and/or object to specific planning applications within the SIE footprint, as 
deemed appropriate by Forum members.
We also fully support the Council’s aims in protecting the Greenbelt. We see the 
Greenbelt in our NPA as an important asset for both the local and wider community which 
should be fully protected as per local and national legislation.
The Area’s housing is a variety of social & private rented, owner occupiers and supported 
living accommodation. 

Page 20



11

4. More About You 

Capability of the neighbourhood forum to be a qualifying body
A variety of professionals live in the area including construction & environment 
specialists, clergy, teachers, and medical & legal specialists.
An initial consultation on the principles of a neighbourhood plan has been carried out by 
small group discussions and email. This was followed up with a leaflet delivery to all 
residential and business properties in the proposed Plan Area. The leaflet [attached] 
invited everyone to a local meeting. At this meeting explanations of the process and 
presentations where given. A Q&A session followed. The first formal meeting of the 
Forum was held on 6th January 2018. This meeting formalised the Forum name, propose 
d Plan Area and elected a Management Committee in accordance with the Constitution. 
A list of Forum officers and people who have agreed to be members to date is attached. 
They bring a range of expertise including, finance, marketing, tax, project management, 
information technology, education, medicine, accounting, logistics and sport, alongside 
business owners, walkers, equestrians, anglers and members of the clergy. The majority 
of these forum members live or work in the Area, plus a Ward Councillor and business 
representatives with their businesses dependent on the area. 
As the Plan Area bisects two Parliamentary constituency areas [Rochdale and Heywood 
& Middleton] both Members of Parliament will be invited to join the Forum.
Members have expressed a desire to: 

 Engage with residents, businesses and visitors so that their needs are taken into 
account;  

 Be open to development in the Area whilst protecting its assets for the benefit of 
both local residents and the wider community;

 Look at ways to encourage sympathetic tourism and outdoor activity in the Area;

 Continually look at ways to improve the area for the benefit of all.

Page 21



Register of Members

Initial Lives in area 
Postcode

Business in area Works in area Cllr or MP

BA Y    
SB Y    
CB Y    
GB Y    
RB Y    
PB Y    
JB Y    
LB Y    
BB Y    
CB Y    
IB Y    
LB Y    
SB Y    
CB Y    
JB Y    
AB Y    
SB Y    
EC Y    
SC Y    
RC Y    
NC Y    
WC Y    
MC Y    
LC Y    
SC Y    
MC Y    
HC Y    
DD Y    
MD Y    
DD Y    
HD Y    
ED Y    
FD Y    
AD Y Y   
VD Y Y   
RD Y    
ME Y    
AE Y    
PE Y  y  
SF Y    
SF Y    

Page 22



DF Y    
HG Y    
SG Y    
JG Y y   
GG Y    
JH Y    
WH Y    
BH Y    
PH Y    
BH Y    
HJ Y    
JK Y    
JK Y    
RL Y    
SL Y    
PM Y    
RM Y    
VM Y    
SM Y    
JM Y    
KM Y    
JM Y    
MM Y    
KM Y    
FN Y    
KN Y    
PN Y    
GO Y    
TO Y    
SO Y    
KO Y    
LO Y    
MP Y    
EP Y    
RP Y    
JP Y    
AP Y    
DP Y  Y  
JP Y    
MP Y    
AP Y    
SQ Y Y   
RQ Y    
HR Y    
PS Y Y   
KS Y Y   

Page 23



AS Y    
JS Y    
BS Y   Y
ZS Y    
JS Y    
GS Y    
SS Y    
LS Y    
AS Y    
DS Y    
NS Y    
SS Y  Y  
PS Y    
GT Y    
JT Y    
ST Y    
AW Y    
KW Y    
MW Y    
GW Y  Y  
JW Y    
RW Y    
AW Y    
MW Y    
PW Y Y   
JW Y    
DW Y    
JY Y    

5. Declaration:
I hereby apply for the designation of a neighbourhood area as described in this form and 
shown on the accompanying plan.
Signed: Gordon Tilstone
Dated: 03/05/2018
In accordance with Regulation 6 (Publicising an area application), Rochdale Council will 
publicise, and invite comments on the application for a 6 week period. 
Please submit this form, and attached documentation, by email at 
LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk 
Alternatively, please post the form and supporting documents to:
Strategic Planning Service
Number 1 Riverside
Smith Street, 
Rochdale, 
OL16 1XU

Page 24

mailto:LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk


Appendix 3

ApplicationApplication  forfor  thethe  DesignationDesignation  ofof  aa  NeighbourhoodNeighbourhood  ForumForum
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 
2012

Application for the Designation of a 
Neighbourhood Forum (Regulation 8)

This form has been prepared by Rochdale Council to help simplify the application 
process for designation of a neighbourhood forum. You do not have to use the form.  
Please note that the information provided on this application form and its supporting 
documents will be made public. If you require any further clarification, or would 
like to discuss the proposed Neighbourhood Forum with the Council before you 
submit your application, please contact the Strategic Planning Service via email 
at LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk

The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 Regulations 8, 9 and 10 
requires details of at least one member of the proposed neighbourhood forum to be 
made public.

1. Applicant Details

Contact name: Gordon Tilstone
Organisation name: Thornham St John's Neighbourhood Forum
Address: 47 Thornham Lane, Middleton M24 2RE
Email Address: greenbelt@slattocks.com
Telephone Number: 

2. Name of Proposed Neighbourhood Forum

Thornham St. John’s Neighbourhood Forum

3. Name of Proposed Neighbourhood Area – Please give the name of the relevant 
neighbourhood area and attach a map identifying the extent of the area.

Thornham St. John’s Neighbourhood Area

4. Written Constitution (please attach)

☒ Constitution attached (included as Background Document – Available in 
Members Lounge)

Page 25



5. Statement

This section provides the opportunity to set out the purpose, aims and ambitions of the 
neighbourhood forum and to demonstrate how its membership is representative of the 
local community.

In order for the Council to designate a neighbourhood forum to act on behalf of a 
neighbourhood area, it needs to be satisfied that the following conditions contained in 
Section 61F (5) of Schedule 9 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by the Localism Act) are met:

a) it is established for the express purpose of promoting or improving the social, 
economic and environmental well-being of the neighbourhood area concerned 
(whether or not it is also established for the express purpose of promoting the 
carrying on of trades, professions or other businesses in such an area)

b) membership is open to and includes a minimum of 21 individuals each of 
whom:

- live in the neighbourhood area;
- work in the neighbourhood area;
- carry out business in the neighbourhood area (for example, represent 

the area as a local councillor or as a Member of Parliament).
c) it has a written constitution (as detailed in Section 2)

Please set out the purpose, aims and ambitions of the proposed neighbourhood 
forum here: 

The Thornham St John’s Neighbourhood Forum [TSJNF] has been established to 
promote and improve the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the TSJ 
Neighbourhood Plan (TSJNP) Area [see map attached]. This will be achieved by 
agreeing a vision for the TSJNP Area, preparing development policies (that conform 
with local and national planning policies) to achieve this vision and by preparing a 
Neighbourhood Plan for the Area (NPA) which embodies these policies and any other 
appropriate purpose agreed by the Forum. 

Our values are to conduct Forum affairs ethically and observe the 'Nolan Principles', 
the seven principles of public life, namely Selflessness, Integrity, Objectivity, 
Accountability, Openness, Honesty and Leadership; and to pursue equality of 
opportunity in terms of its membership, its conduct and its proposed Plan. 

Membership is open to all individuals who live, work, pursue recreational activities and 
carry out business in the area, ward councillors and individuals who are elected 
members. Prior to this a number of local residents had formed the SOS-Save Our 
Slattocks greenbelt group with a formal constitution, officers and a bank account.

The initiating group gained information about neighbourhood planning locally through 
the Rooley Moor Area Forum and more widely via Woodford Neighbourhood Forum in 
Stockport. Alongside this were conversations with the planning officers of Rochdale 
MBC. Information was also acquired from the Government’s website (Locality), 

Page 26



Planning Aid and the Campaign for the Protection of Rural England [CPRE]. From this 
information base the proposed neighbourhood area was drawn up. 

We believe the creation of a Neighbourhood Area and Forum will further help 
community cohesion for those who live, work, pursue recreational activities and carry 
out business in the area. 

We recognise that our Neighbourhood Forum and Area needs to maintain itself as a 
thriving community through the provision of appropriately scaled employment 
premises and housing, particularly enough affordable housing. We are also keen to 
promote both public and non-motor transport.  

The NPA boundary closely follows the Thornham St Johns Parish Boundary. Minor 
amendments have been made to this to include properties to the west of Rochdale 
Road opposite Cardinal Langley High School and to exclude those on Trows Lane, 
beyond the now natural border of the M62. The area has been chosen in conjunction 
with a core group of residents and a Ward Councillor as being manageable in terms of 
preparation of a neighbourhood plan. 

Our neighbourhood area includes Chesham Estate, Slattocks village, Stakehill, 
Thornham Fold and properties between Slattocks Roundabout and Stanycliffe Lane.

The vast majority of land within the proposed NPA is Greenbelt. Much of this is used 
for farming, principally gazing for sheep and cattle. There are both beef & dairy cattle 
which include a Holstein herd, noted for its high milk yield. Chicken egg production is 
also a thriving local farm-based business. Many of the farms are owned and operated 
by local families with long associations with the area. Some parts of farmland are 
given over to game bird production and shooting. The lanes and public footpaths are 
regularly frequented by numerous walking groups, horse riders, cyclists, runners and 
individuals for recreation, general exercise and enjoyment. The Rochdale Canal runs 
the length of the Area from Trub to Stanycliffe and is well used by leisure craft, 
anglers, walkers, joggers and cyclists. It also forms a useful corridor/route for local 
workers’ journeys. 

People are increasingly conscious of their health and well-being and wish to exercise 
in natural places (jogging, walking, cycling, etc). Thus the Area’s green infrastructure 
(trees, hedgerows, river/canal banks, green corridors) plays a crucial role in people’s 
lives. 

As such we consider our local landscape and heritage assets as essential parts of 
wider area’s appeal. The mixture of rural and urban aspects make it distinct and 
contribute to the agricultural and visitor economy.

The Area contains a range of residential, business (including Stakehill Industrial 
Estate [SIE]), farmland, greenbelt and rail & major road links. 

Of particular note are a Grade II listed church, St John the Evangelist Thornham; 
Thornham Cricket Club; the Richard Bentley Smalley Memorial Hall (Charity no. 

Page 27



228619); the Rochdale Canal; and Gerrard Wood (described in GMSF draft October 
2016 as a Site of Biological Importance [SBI]).

There are three schools within the Plan Area, namely; Cardinal Langley RC High 
School & Sixth Form; St John’s Thornham CE (VA) Primary School; and St John 
Fisher RC Primary School. 

Businesses outside of the SIE footprint include a number of farms, hotels & a 
spa/fitness centre, residential and nursing care homes, bed & breakfast 
accommodation, skip hire, two garden centres, car sales, three public houses and a 
fuel station with convenience shop. The Area also has a number of licenced mobile 
kiosks for drinks/sandwich/hot food which are well used by local residents & workers, 
along with passing trade.

Stakehill Industrial Estate - the Forum fully acknowledge Rochdale Council’s aim to 
focus on economic growth as part of its Adopted Core Strategy [Oct 2016] and we 
recognise the Council’s wish to further enhance and promote employment within the 
Estate’s current footprint.

We have, therefore, excluded the SIE footprint from our NPA but reserve the right to 
comment on and/or object to specific planning applications within the SIE footprint, as 
deemed appropriate by Forum members.

We also fully support the Council’s aims in protecting the Greenbelt. We see the 
Greenbelt in our NPA as an important asset for both the local and wider community 
which should be fully protected as per local and national legislation.

The Area’s housing is a variety of social & private rented, owner occupiers and 
supported living accommodation. 

A range of professionals live in the area including construction & environment 
specialists, clergy, teachers, and medical & legal specialists.

An initial consultation on the principles of a neighbourhood plan has been carried out 
by small group discussions and email. This was followed up with a leaflet delivery to 
all residential and business properties in the proposed Plan Area. The leaflet 
[attached] invited everyone to a local meeting. At this meeting explanations of the 
process and presentations where given. A Q&A session followed. The first formal 
meeting of the Forum was held on 6th January 2018. This meeting formalised the 
Forum name, proposed Plan Area and elected a Management Committee in 
accordance with the Constitution [attached] handed out. The proposed Plan Area has 
been amended (see map attached) following discussion with RMBC Planning Officers 
and Forum members.

A list of Forum officers and people who have agreed to be members to date is 
attached. They bring a range of expertise including, finance, marketing, tax, project 
management, information technology, education, medicine, accounting, logistics and 
sport, alongside business owners, walkers, equestrians, anglers and members of the 

Page 28



clergy. The majority of these forum members live or work in the Area. A number of 
these are small business owners with their businesses based in or dependent on the 
area. The Forum also has a Castleton Ward Councillor as a member.

As the Plan Area bisects two Parliamentary constituency areas [Rochdale and 
Heywood & Middleton] both Members of Parliament will be invited to join the Forum.

Members have expressed a desire to: 

 Engage with residents, businesses and visitors so that their needs are taken 
into account;  

 Be open to development in the Area whilst protecting its assets for the benefit 
of both local residents and the wider community;

 Look to protect the Area’s heritage whilst encouraging sympathetic tourism and 
outdoor activity;

Continually look at ways to improve the area for the benefit of all.

Page 29



6. Membership of proposed Neighbourhood Forum

A minimum of 21 members is required, each of whom must live, work or carry out 
business in the neighbourhood area, or be an elected member (whose area falls 
within the neighbourhood area).

The Neighbourhood Planning Regulations 2012 require a Neighbourhood Forum to 
comprise a good cross section of the Neighbourhood Area so as to be considered 
representative.

Initial Lives in area 
Postcode

Business in 
area

Works in 
area

Cllr or MP

BA Y    
SB Y    
CB Y    
GB Y    
RB Y    
PB Y    
JB Y    
LB Y    
BB Y    
CB Y    
IB Y    
LB Y    
SB Y    
CB Y    
JB Y    
AB Y    
SB Y    
EC Y    
SC Y    
RC Y    
NC Y    
WC Y    
MC Y    
LC Y    
SC Y    
MC Y    
HC Y    
DD Y    
MD Y    
DD Y    
HD Y    
ED Y    
FD Y    

Page 30



AD Y Y   
VD Y Y   
RD Y    
ME Y    
AE Y    
PE Y  y  
SF Y    
SF Y    
DF Y    
HG Y    
SG Y    
JG Y y   
GG Y    
JH Y    
WH Y    
BH Y    
PH Y    
BH Y    
HJ Y    
JK Y    
JK Y    
RL Y    
SL Y    
PM Y    
RM Y    
VM Y    
SM Y    
JM Y    
KM Y    
JM Y    
MM Y    
KM Y    
FN Y    
KN Y    
PN Y    
GO Y    
TO Y    
SO Y    
KO Y    
LO Y    
MP Y    
EP Y    
RP Y    
JP Y    
AP Y    
DP Y  Y  

Page 31



JP Y    
MP Y    
AP Y    
SQ Y Y   
RQ Y    
HR Y    
PS Y Y   
KS Y Y   
AS Y    
JS Y    
BS Y   Y
ZS Y    
JS Y    
GS Y    
SS Y    
LS Y    
AS Y    
DS Y    
NS Y    
SS Y  Y  
PS Y    
GT Y    
JT Y    
ST Y    
AW Y    
KW Y    
MW Y    
GW Y  Y  
JW Y    
RW Y    
AW Y    
MW Y    
PW Y Y   
JW Y    
DW Y    
JY Y    

Page 32



7. Declaration:
I hereby apply for the designation of a neighbourhood area as described in this form 
and shown on the accompanying plan.

Signed: Gordon Tilstone

Dated: 03/05/2018

8. Next Steps

Following the submission of the neighbourhood forum and area application form the  
Council will:

- check the application is valid;
- publish the application for a minimum six week period to allow for 

representations; and
- consider representations and make a decision whether to designate a 

neighbourhood forum and area.

Once a neighbourhood forum is designated it can then engage and consult with the 
wider community to develop a plan for their neighbourhood.

Please submit this form, and attached documentation, by email at 
LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk 

Alternatively, please post the form and supporting documents to:

Strategic Planning Service
Number 1 Riverside
Smith Street, 
Rochdale, 
OL16 1XU

Page 33

mailto:LDF.consultation@rochdale.gov.uk


Report to Middleton Township Committee

Date of Meeting 11th October 2018
Portfolio Cabinet Member for 

Environment
Report Author Julie Simpson
Public/Private Document Public

Application for an order modyfying the Definitive map and 
statement to include a footpath running from Middleton Road 

(Adjacent to 300) to Siddal Farm Middleton.

Executive Summary

1. Under section 130 Highways Act 1980 the Council has a duty to protect and 
assert the rights of the public to the use and enjoyment of any highway defined 
on the map of rights of way and supporting statements.  The Council are also 
required to maintain and keep under review a map, the Definitive map, and 
statement showing the public footpaths and bridleways in its area.  

One of the circumstances in which the map can be modified is the expiration of 
any period such that the enjoyment of the way by the public during that period 
raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public right of way.  
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980, provides that any way over land which has 
been actually enjoyed by the public, as of right and without interruption for a full 
period of 20 years, shall be deemed to have been dedicated as a public right of 
way unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no intention to dedicate the 
way for public use.

Any person may apply to the Council under section 53(5) of the Wildlife & 
Countryside Act 1981 for an order to be made to modify the Definitive Map and 
Statement to include a path or way.  Such an application must contain the 
evidence on which the applicant relies; the applicant must notify the landowner of 
the application.

The Council received such an application to claim a right of way running over 
land from Middleton Road, Middleton adjacent to number 300 Middleton Road, 
Middleton to Siddal Fold Farm, Middleton as a result of the use of the route by 
the general public being questioned and obstructed by the land owner. The 
location of the route used is shown by a thick black line on the attached map to 
this report.  The evidence provided indicates that the path/way has been used by 
the public as of right for over twenty years and that there is a case to make the 
order.

Page 34

Agenda Item 10



Recommendation

2.

2.1

2.2

That the Middleton Township Committee approves the Council proceeding with 
a definitive map and statement modification order under section 53(2) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

That if no objections are received to the order, that the order be confirmed as 
an unopposed order under paragraph 6 of Schedule 15 to the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981, and if relevant objections are received that the order be 
referred to the Secretary of State for confirmation.

That the Head of Legal be authorised to make an Order under the relevant 
Acts, the effect of which, if confirmed, would be to create a public footpath 
along the route shown on the attached map.

Reason for Recommendation

3. The application submitted to the Council is supported by 16 evidence forms each 
indicating an uninterrupted period of enjoyment of the path between 1 and 80 
years. 7 of the forms of evidence have provided sufficient use prior to 1977.

The applicant has also provided historical information regarding this route; it is 
identified within the “Walks Around Heywood” pamphlet compiled by the 
Heywood Civic Society.  In addition, the applicant provided evidence that the 
way previously formed part of the Rochdale Way and the Council’s Countryside 
Services incorporated the route in a recognized circular walk.

The applicant is required to inform the landowner(s) of their intention to claim a 
footpath over their land and the applicant carried out this part of the process.  
The Council contacted the landowner(s) in order that they may submit any 
evidence in support or against the claim.  Only one landowner submitted 
evidence against the claim.  Three other landowners did not submit anything.

A landowner provided evidence that the footpath could not have been used from 
1977 when he owned/occupied Saxon’s Farm.  He erected barriers and notices 
that were occasionally torn down by the general public to gain access.  

Prior to the creation of the M62 motorway, discussions took place with the 
owner/occupier of Saxons Farm (situated on the other side of the M62) to 
establish the location for a footpath that currently ran over land where the M62 is 
now located. The footpath was diverted onto land pertaining to Saxons Farm 
under a side road order. The landowner was entitled compensation for the loss 
of land however no compensation was paid.  Seeing that neither the Council nor 
the Highway Agency obtained a full agreement with the landowner to create the 
route over the M62, it is questionable whether this route exists or not.  

Should the Council agree to proceed with the order the process requires notices 
to be erected during the objection period on the land. Any relevant objections 
must be considered by the Council. If the Council is unable to resolve any 
objection and the Council will not be able to confirm the order. If this is the case 

Page 35



then the process requires the matter to be referred to the Secretary of State for a 
conclusion; this could be by way of written representations or a Public Inquiry.

Key Points for Consideration

4.

4.1

The Council are obliged to consider an application to modify the definitive map 
and statement if the evidence proves to meet the criteria under the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 and the Highways Act 1980.

The evidence provided by the applicant and supporting forms that show use 
during the period 1938-1977 is sufficient to meet the criteria under the 
Highways Act 1980 as of right and without interruption.  

The claimed footpath is identified on promotional documentation within the 
Council for recognized circular walks and is shown on ordnance survey maps 
as the Rochdale Way.  However, this does not indicate the existence of way 
and a landowner now obstructs the way.

Proceeding with the application/order if successful will ensure that the footpath 
is open and available.  It also provides an addition to the definitive network in 
the area.

 Alternatives Considered

The only alternative would be to decline to make the order.  This would mean 
that the Council was in breach of its duty and would entitle the applicant to 
appeal to the Secretary of State under paragraph 4 of Schedule 14 to the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 against the Council’s decision.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. The costs related to the order are internal officer and legal costs, and, if the 
matter is referred to a Public Inquiry, the Council would be responsible for all 
costs associated with the arrangement of that Public Inquiry.

Other costs to the Council will be future maintenance of the footpath should 
the order be completed as there is an obligation to ensure the route is open 
and available for use and easy to use.

The costs associated with this order will be financed from the Environmental 
Management Rights of Way budget.

Risk and Policy Implications

6. There are no specific risk issues for members to consider arising from this 
report.

Should members decide not to agree with the recommendations of this report 
and decide not to proceed with the order then an applicant may appeal to 
Secretary of State under paragraph 4 of Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and 

Page 36



Countryside Act 1981.

Consultation

7. In addition to consulting the Middleton Township Committee there is a 
statutory consultation procedure involving notification to the landowner and 
statutory consultees and a requirement to publicise in the press and on site 
the Council’s decision to modify the Definitive Map and Statement .  If there 
are objections to the Order by any person then it will be referred to the 
Secretary of State who may hold a Public Inquiry or require Written 
Representations.

Background Papers Place of Inspection
8. File 11018 Environmental Management, Green 

Lane, Heywood
For Further Information Contact: Julie Simpson, , 

julie.simpson@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 37



©
C

row
n

copyright.

cE

I

L
8

E
l

S
ub

S
I.

S
cale

1:2592 Page 38



Report to Middleton Township Committee

Date of Meeting 11th October 2018
Portfolio Councillor Liam O’Rourke, 

Cabinet Member for 
Resources 

Report Author Clare Poole
Public/Private Document Public

Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places

Executive Summary

1.1

1.2

The statutory review of Polling Districts and Polling Places is underway and 
the consultation period ended on 27 July 2018.
A final report on any recommendations arising from the review will be taken to 
full Council on 17 October 2018 for approval. 

Recommendation

2. Members of the Middleton Township Committee to consider the proposed 
changes to polling districts and polling places within the Township arising from 
the review.

Reason for Recommendation

3.1

3.2

3.3

The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 included a new 
provision altering the timing of statutory reviews of parliamentary polling 
districts and polling places. This meant that all local authorities were required 
to complete a statutory review between 1 October 2013 and 31 January 2015. 
Subsequent compulsory reviews must be started and completed within the 
period of 16 months that starts on 1 October of every fifth year after 1 October 
2013. 
This review must be completed and implemented by the end of December 
2018, so for the changes to be included in the register on 1 December this 
year, Full Council must consider and confirm the proposals at their meeting on 
17 October 2018.

Key Points for Consideration

4.1 The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 requires Electoral 
Registration Officers to review the borough’s polling districts and places every 
5 years.

Page 39

Agenda Item 11



4.2 The process required a period of public consultation which ran from 2 July 
2018 to 27 July 2018.

4.3 Responses and comments received during the consultation period and 
resulting recommendations are detailed below: 

WEST 
MIDDLETON

COMMENT - Cllr Neil Emmott - Wood Street - make sure the properties are 
in the correct polling station as it's split across a few
ACTION - To amend this anomally

4.4 Members role in contributing to the review is the local knowledge and links 
they have with the local communities of their wards to develop the most 
appropriate alignment of polling district boundaries and polling stations with 
the most suitable facilities to serve the electorate.

4.5 To allow for efficient publication of the register of electors, including any 
proposed alterations to polling districts, Council will be required to consider 
any amendments in October so that they can be included in the annual 
revision of the register of electors on 1 December. 

4.6 Any changes to polling stations will be implemented in time for the local 
elections in 2019.

4.7 Any alternative polling districts or polling stations proposed during the 
consultation period will be considered.

Costs and Budget Summary

5. No direct financial implications.

Risk and Policy Implications

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.4.1

6.4.2

6.5

There are risks to the electoral process if polling district boundaries are 
misaligned or polling places are not fit for purpose. Such issues as distance 
to the polling place or conditions within the premises can dissuade electors 
from participating in the democratic process and they may not cast their vote.  
Legislation specifies the steps the relevant authority must take to conduct a 
review in Schedule A1 to the Representation of the People Act 1983.
It states that when designating polling districts, the authority must seek to 
ensure all electors have reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in 
the circumstances.
It also states that when designating polling places, the relevant authority 
must:
Seek to ensure that all the electors in the constituency have such 
reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the circumstances;
Seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and practicable, the polling 
places they are responsible for are accessible to all electors, including 
those who are disabled, and when considering the designation of a polling 
place, must have regard to the accessibility needs of disabled persons.
In addition, the polling place for a polling district must be within the area of 
the district unless special circumstances make it desirable to designate an 

Page 40



area either wholly or partly outside of the polling district.
The proposed change would ensure that the electors on Wood Street vote at 
the correct and most convenient polling station which may result in a higher 
turnout by electors on election day.
There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

6.6

6.7

Consultation

7.1
7.2

7.3

7.4

Public consultation started on Monday 2 July and ran until Friday 27 July.
All elected members, MP’s and local political party offices were contacted 
during the consultation period inviting them to make submissions.
Details of the consultation were on public deposit at Number One Riverside, 
Customer Service Centres in Heywood, Middleton, Milnrow and Littleborough 
and available to view on the Council’s website.
Final recommendations will be made for Full Council approval on 17 October.

Background Papers Place of Inspection

8. None N/A

For Further Information Contact: Clare Poole, Tel: 01706 924818, 
clare.poole@rochdale.gov.uk

Page 41



Report to Middleton Township Committee

Date of Meeting 11th October 2018
Portfolio Neighbourhoods, 

Community & Culture
Report Author Valery White
Public/Private Document Public Document

Consultation on the review by the
Townships Review Steering Group

1. Executive Summary

1.1 In January 2018, Township Chairs and a cross-party group of Elected 
Members formed a working group to look at how we engage with our 
communities, and the workings of the Townships. Members of the Townships 
Review Steering Group were appointed by Group Leaders.

1.2 The group was facilitated by Sir Steve Houghton, Leader of Barnsley Council, 
and officers from the Local Government Association.

1.3 The purpose of the group was to consider the following in the context of 
cooperative values – self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality, equity 
and solidarity, and behaviours playing a key part in the future role of the 
Townships:

 Do we need to improve engagement with our communities?
 Do Members and Townships need to link into the public service 

reform and Cooperative council agendas?
 Do we need to work better with partners and our communities at a 

neighbourhood level?
 Are we aiming to ‘tidy up’ existing Township structures/processes, or 

should we aim for more radical change?

1.4 The report of the Township Review Members Panel contains a number of 
recommendations for consideration and is attached as Appendix 1 to this 
report.

1.5 Views from Townships are sought as part of this consultation. Any changes to 
Township governance would require approval by Full Council.

Page 42

Agenda Item 12



2. Recommendations

2.1 It is recommended that Members –

(i) Note the report and consider the recommendations contained in 
Appendix 1 attached - Report of Township Review Members Panel 30th 
May 2018.

(ii) Offer comments on the findings of the review.
(iii) Offer views as part of the consultation and note that any changes to 

Townships structure or governance would require subsequent approval 
at full Council.

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1 Following the outcome of the Members’ review of Townships, it is considered 
appropriate to now consult with all Members and with individual Townships. 
This is to ensure transparency prior to any changes in Township 
arrangements.

4. Key Points for Consideration

The key recommendations are highlighted in the attached report (Appendix 1).
The Townships Review highlighted the following key issues:

Members should have a broader role in having oversight of issues such as 
Health & Social Care and other issues at a township level, and should play a 
stronger role in developing more resilient communities

There should be a continued recognition of different needs and priorities 
throughout the Borough, across townships and at a neighbourhood level

Members should have a role in encouraging co-creation within communities

A re-structure of the Rochdale Township

Consideration should be given to developing greater core capacity of 
Township staffing levels

Creation of ward alliances

4.1 The creation of two Township areas in place of the existing Rochdale 
Township would increase the number of committees and sub-committees to 
five, increasing the resources required to facilitate these meetings.

4.2 The creation of two Township areas in place of the existing Rochdale 
Township would require a re-alignment of the Township Capital and Revenue 
budgets, in line with the population in each Township.

Page 43



5. Alternatives Considered

Following consultation with all Members and Township committees -

5.1 Cabinet Members could choose to go with all or part of this proposal, e.g. it 
may be that the new ways of working are favoured, but that the geographical 
changes to the Rochdale Township is not. 

5.2 Cabinet Members could reject the proposal if they feel that their Townships 
are already effective in working co-creatively with their communities.

6. Costs and Budget Summary

Subject to the consultation:

6.1 It is anticipated that any changes to the geographical make-up of the 
Townships will be achieved from within existing staffing budgets.

6.2 A geographical change to the make-up of the Townships would require re-
alignment of the Townships’ existing Capital and Revenue budgets.

6.3 Members would need to consider the need for additional resources and 
capacity from new funding or within existing services across the organisation 
to support greater capacity within the Townships team.

7. Risk and Policy Implications

7.1 There are no risk or policy implications.

8. Consultation

8.1 Informal Cabinet, Elected Members, Township Committees: Heywood 8th 
October 2018, Rochdale 10th October 2018, Middleton 11th October 2018, 
Pennines 16th October 2018/Informal Cabinet/Council

Background Papers Place of Inspection
Not applicable

For Further Information Contact: Valery White
valery.white@rochdale.gov.uk
Tel: 01706 924858

Page 44



 Appendix 1  - Final report, including recommendations of Panel

Report of: Townships Review Members Panel

Date: 30th May 2018

Report Author: Valery White – Townships & Communities Manager 

1. Executive Summary

Aims & Objectives

In January 2018, Township Chairs and a cross-party group of Elected Members formed a 
working group to look at the structures and workings of the Townships. Members of the 
Townships Review Steering Group were appointed by Group Leaders.

The group was facilitated by Sir Steve Houghton, Leader of Barnsley Council, and officers 
from the Local Government Association.

The purpose of the group was to consider the following in the context of cooperative 
values (Self-help, Self-responsibility, Democracy, Equality, Equity and Solidarity) and 
behaviours playing a key part in the future role of the townships:

Do we need to improve engagement with our communities?

Do Members and Townships need to link into the public service reform and 
Cooperative Council agendas?

Do we need to work better with partners and our communities at a neighbourhood 
level?

Are we aiming to ‘tidy up’ existing Township structures/processes, or should we 
aim for more radical change?

2. Overview from the sessions

It was recognised that members already provide strong leadership in their communities. It 
was also acknowledged that Members have an important role to play as Leaders of Place, 
alongside their communities, partners and officers. There is now an opportunity for 
Members to further develop their roles within place.

Over five sessions, concluding on the 30th May, the group identified their priorities for 
future working and how members see their roles in the future. It was recognised that there 
needs to be a culture change among services, staff and residents to encourage self-
responsibility and resilience within our communities.

Page 45



 Appendix 1  - Final report, including recommendations of Panel

3. Township Structures

An element of the review looked at current Township structures. It was seen that the 
current geographical make-up of the Townships delivers inconsistency in terms of 
population, number of wards and number of Elected Members.    In order to address this, 
members of the group felt that this review was an opportunity to consider splitting the 
Rochdale Township into two separate Townships.

4. Recommendations

The recommendations from the Members Panel were as follows -

1. Members should have a broader role in having oversight of issues such as 
Health & Social Care and other issues at a township level, and should play a 
stronger role in developing more resilient communities. 

a. Encouraging self-reliance in the community
b. Encouraging more engagement
c. Working alongside communities

2. There should be a continued recognition of different needs and priorities 
throughout the Borough, across townships and at a neighbourhood level.

a. There should be a core offer of services throughout the Borough, whilst 
ensuring that there remains scope to be flexible with delivery of services at a 
township level.

b. Members and services need to recognise the diversity of communities at a 
neighbourhood level

3. Members should have a role in encouraging co-creation within communities
a. Members have an important role in delivering community capacity and as an 

outcome support an increase in the number of volunteers
b. This could result support an increase in the number of volunteering hours

4. A re-structure of the Rochdale Township

4.1 The group considered the Rochdale Township, which is made up of nine 
wards . They considered how effective a committee of 27 members was, and 
whether there was an option to reduce the township to a more manageable 
level. A number of models were discussed. Members finally agreed that the 
creation of an additional township within Rochdale was the preferred option. 
The make-up of the proposed new township areas are shown below:

Page 46



 Appendix 1  - Final report, including recommendations of Panel

Rochdale ‘A’ Rochdale ‘B’
Balderstone & Kirkholt

Castleton
Central Rochdale

Kingsway
Milkstone & Deeplish

Bamford
Healey
Norden

Spotland & Falinge

Recommendation: 

I. Rochdale Township be split as shown above. 
II. A name for each of these township areas be agreed.

5. Consideration should be given to developing greater core capacity of 
Township staffing levels

Reason for Recommendations

As a Co-operative Council, there is a commitment to moving towards being a Co-operative 
Borough. The recommendations in this report will assist members in working with our 
communities, encouraging and building resilience. Members will continue to have a front 
facing leadership role in delivering against the Council priorities for the Borough. At the 
moment, there are 5 Township Officers and a Township and Communities Manager. The 
review has highlighted a capacity issue in terms of core staffing to enable greater levels of 
community engagement and support township delivery. 

6. Creation of ward alliances 

Recommendation: The creation of Ward Alliances in all wards across the borough

Members are asked to consider that each ward could develop a ‘Ward Alliance’. The 
alliances would facilitate discussion around issues of concern at a very local level, and 
could influence decision making around allocation of Township funds at a neighbourhood 
level.  An example of how this could work is as follows:

 3 x Ward Members
 6 x Members of the public (as a minimum)

o Members agreed by application process
 Meetings bi-monthly – serviced by a Community Development Worker**
 Dispute Resolutions Procedure introduced
 Minutes of meetings go to Township Committees

**Would need to be recruited in addition to current staff.

Page 47



 Appendix 1  - Final report, including recommendations of Panel

Alternatives Considered

I. Members could choose to go with all or part of this proposal, e.g. it may be that the 
new ways of working are favoured, but that the geographical changes to the 
Rochdale Township is not. Conversely it may be that the geographical changes are 
accepted, but that Members would prefer to work as they currently do with area 
forums and thematic partnerships.

II. Members could reject the proposal if they feel that their Townships are already 
effective in working co-creatively with their communities.

Other Implications for consideration

The creation of an additional Township would increase the number of committees and 
sub-committees to five, increasing the resources required to facilitate these meetings.

The creation of an additional Township would lead to a re-alignment of the Township 
Capital & Revenue budgets, in line with changes in population in each Township.

Consultation

Informal Cabinet, Township Committees: Heywood 8th October 2018, Rochdale 10th 
October 2018, Middleton 11th October 2018, Pennines 16th October 2018, Informal 
Cabinet, Council. 

Page 48



Appendix 2

Corporate Plan
People

Safeguarding and protecting our vulnerable people and supporting people of all ages to be 
healthier, confident, resilient, in control and to successfully manage their lives. Enabling 

communities to thrive and develop

Place
We will create safe, resilient, flourishing and high quality places where people choose to live, 

work and invest

Prosperity
Encouraging business growth and enterprise, creating the conditions for more good quality 
jobs. We will work co-operatively, directing our resources towards achieving the outcomes 

identified in partnership plans

Co-operative Values & Principles
Co-operative Values

• Self-help
• Self-responsibility
• Democracy
• Equality
• Equity
• Solidarity

Principles of Co-operative Councils
• Social partnership
• Democratic engagement
• Co-production
• Enterprise and social economy
• Maximising social value
• Community leadership - new role for 

councilors
• New models of meeting priority needs
• Innovation
• Learning
• Walking the talk

Page 49


	Agenda
	7 Minutes - Middleton Township Committee
	8 Minutes - Middleton Township Devolved Funding and Devolved Services Sub-Committee
	9 Neighbourhood Planning - Application for Thornham St. John's Neighbourhood Area & Forum
	10 Application for an Order Modyfying the Definitive Map and Statement to include a Footpath Running from Middleton Road (Adjacent to 300) to Siddal Farm Middleton
	Append. 1 for Application for an order modyfying the Definitive map and statement to include a footpath running from Middleton Road (Adjacent to 300) to Siddal Farm Middleton.

	11 Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places
	12 Consultation on the review by the Townships Review Steering Group
	Appendix 1 - Report of Townships Review Members Panel
	Appendix 2  - Townships Review


